Supreme Court Case No. 91606-3

Apr <u>4</u>5, <u>2</u>015 **Appeals** i∕vîsion l State of Washington

# **I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS**

Petitioners are James Didlake, Dustin Johnson, Shelly Burke, Monica Fischer, and Michael Bennett. Collectively they are referred to as "Didlake" throughout this petition.

## II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Didlake, et al, v. Washington State, and Washington State Department of Licensing, Case No. 71633-6-I; filed March 16, 2015.

# III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does the fee-for-hearing requirement in the Implied Consent statute violate the due process clause of the Federal and State constitutions by forcing drivers to pay a fee to receive a meaningful hearing in response to a State initiated suspension of a driver's license?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This petition addresses the fee-for-hearing requirement found in the Implied Consent statute. A driver arrested for DUI is read a statutory warning advising that either a refusal to submit to a breath-alcohol test or a test result over .08<sup>2</sup> results in a mandatory license suspension.<sup>3</sup> If either

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RCW 46.20.308.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For drivers under age 21 the test level is .02. RCW 46.20.308(2)(c)(ii). <sup>3</sup> RCW 46.20.308(2).

occur the officer is required to notify the Department of Licensing by filing a sworn report.<sup>4</sup>

The Department, "upon receipt of the sworn report," initiates the suspension. The driver's options are to do nothing, in which case the suspension is automatic, or request a hearing before a Department of Licensing hearing examiner. The driver must pay a fee to receive the hearing or seek a waiver of the fee by claiming indigency. The hearing examiner either sustains or rescinds the suspension order.

Petitioners were arrested for DUI and became subject to automatic suspensions issued by the Department. Each paid the fee to receive a hearing. All suspension orders were rescinded, except for Johnson.

Petitioners filed a lawsuit against the Department of Licensing seeking reimbursement of the hearing fee. 12 Petitioners alleged that payment of the fee to receive an initial evidentiary hearing violated the due

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RCW 46.20.308(5)(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> RCW 46.20.308(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RCW 46.20.308(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> RCW 46.20.308(6). Note: At the time Petitioners filed suit in superior court this fee was \$200. As of Oct. 2012 the fee has increased to \$375. (CP 2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> RCW 46.20.308(7). The Department carries the burden of proving statutory requirements for the suspension were met. Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Id.

<sup>11</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 1-7.

process clause of the Federal and State constitutions.<sup>13</sup> Petitioners further sought class certification.<sup>14</sup>

The King County Superior Court granted the Department's CR

12(c) motion without ruling on Petitioners' motion for class certification. 

The Court of Appeals, following transfer from this Court, affirmed. 

16

# **V. ARGUMENT**

Petitioners contend review should be granted for two reasons. <sup>17</sup>
First, this petition raises a significant question of law under the
Constitutions of the State of Washington and United States (RAP
13.4(b)(3)). Second, there is a conflict between decisions from Division
One and Two of the Court of Appeals on the issue whether a fee-forhearing requirement to defend against a state initiated action to take
property from a citizen violates due process (RAP 13.4.(b)(2)).

1. This petition raises a significant question of law under the due process clause of the Federal and State constitutions that has not been adequately resolved by prior case law.

<sup>14</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 247-253.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Didlake, et al, v. Washington State, and Washington State Department of Licensing, Case No. 71633-6-I; filed March 16, 2015; pg. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Petitioners raise a facial due process challenge. *Didlake*, at 4; 15. The issue of class certification has not been ruled on by the trial court.

The retention of the state sanctioned privilege to drive constitutes a "substantial" and "important" property interest. *City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 670-671, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). Courts have described this right as not simply a mere "privilege," but an essential component to social and economic mobility.

"Once licenses are issued ... their continued possession may become essential in the pursuit of a livelihood. Suspension of issued licenses thus involves state action that adjudicates important interests of the licensees. In such cases the licenses are not to be taken away without that procedural due process required by the Fourteenth Amendment."

Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535, 539, 91 S.Ct. 1586 (1971);

"[T]he State "will not be able to make a driver whole for any personal inconvenience and economic hardship suffered by reason of any delay in redressing an erroneous suspension through post-suspension review procedures."

Moore, 151 Wn.2d at 670-671.

Due process of law is guaranteed under both the United States and Washington State Constitutions. <sup>18</sup> The Washington due process clause is co-extensive with that of the federal Constitution. *State v. Morgan*, 163 Wn. App. 341, 352, 261 P.3d 167 (2011). The purpose of the due process clause is to protect the people from the actions of the State. *DeShaney v.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> U.S. Const., Amend. XIV; Wash. Const., Article I, §3.

Winnebago Cty., 489 U.S. 189, 196, 109 S.Ct. 998 (1989). Procedural due process constrains governmental decision-making that deprives individuals of liberty or property interests within the meaning of the due process clause. Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333, 96 S.Ct. 893 (1976). Where a property interest is at stake, at a minimum due process requires notice and the right to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner. Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 313, 70 S.Ct. 652 (1950); Olympic Forest Prods., Inc v. Chaussee Corp., 82 Wn.2d 418, 422, 511 P.2d 1002 (1973).

The United States Supreme Court, and subsequently this Court, has adopted a three-part test to determine the type of "process" which is due to protect certain property rights. See *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. at 335; *City of Bremerton v. Hawkins*, 155 Wn.2d 107, 110, 117 P.3d 1132 (2005). A Court must consider:

- (1) The private interest that will be affected by the official action;
- (2) The risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and
- (3) The Government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail.

While the form of a due process hearing may vary under this test, the Supreme Court has consistently held that regardless of its form, the due process hearing must be afforded to the individual <u>before</u> the individual is finally deprived of a property interest. See *Mathews v*. *Eldridge*, 424 U.S. at 333; *Goldberg v. Kelly*, 397 U.S. 254, 90 S.Ct. 1011 (1970) (emphasis added). A pre-revocation hearing procedure is required before the State may suspend or revoke the driving privilege. *Bell v. Burson*, 402 U.S. at 539-542; *Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d at 668.

Throughout these proceedings the Respondent and courts have evaluated Didlake's claim by applying case law addressing the issue of "access" to courts. As will be explained below, Didlake does not raise an "access" issue. Rather, Didlake (and others) must respond to the Department's action to initiate a license suspension. As the responding party, Didlake claims he should not be compelled to pay a fee to receive any due process protection of his driving privilege.

The United States Supreme Court first addressed the issue of payment of fees to obtain access to the courts in the early 1970's in three cases. In *Boddie v. Connecticut*, 401 U.S. 371, 91 S.Ct. 780 (1971), v. *Connecticut*, the Court addressed whether a state could compel indigent persons to pay a court filing fee to access the courts to obtain a divorce.

The Court held that the fee requirement under these limited circumstances violated due process. At 382. The Court's ruling was limited; it did not decide whether states were barred from imposing any fee requirements to access the courts. At 382. Instead, the Court focused solely on the states' monopoly over the regulation of marital relationships and the need to preserve access to the courts to alter this "fundamental human relationship." At 383.

In *United States v. United States v. Kras*, 410 U.S. 656, 93 S.Ct. 1172 (1973), the Court addressed whether an indigent petitioner could be compelled to pay a filing fee to <u>access</u> the courts for bankruptcy protection. Distinguishing *Boddie*, the Court held the fee did not violate due process as applied to indigent persons. At 450. To the Court the distinction was that bankruptcy was an issue of economic and social welfare; not a fundamental human relationship. At 447. Thus, a fee requirement could be placed on all petitioners to access the courts. *Id*.

Finally, in *Ortwein v. Schwab* 410 U.S. 656, 93 S.Ct. 1172 (1973), the Court addressed whether state courts could compel indigent petitioners to pay a filing fee to <u>access</u> appellate review of a reduction in welfare

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The Court also noted that unlike marriage which is monopolized by the State; a bankruptcy petitioner has other options to resolve legal debts short of accessing the courts. At 445.

benefits. The Court ruled the appeal fee did not violate due process. At 660. The Court relied on two distinctions with *Boddie*. First, like *Kras* the issue of reduction in welfare benefits was a matter of social and economic welfare, not a fundamental right. At 658-659. Second, the petitioners received an initial pre-termination hearing where no fee was imposed. At 659-660. Under these facts petitioners were not denied due process. *Id*.

This Court has addressed a similar issue in *Housing Authority of King County v. Saylors*, 87 Wn.2d 732, 557 P.2d 321 (1977), where the issue was whether an indigent petitioner should be required to pay an appeal fee to <u>access</u> appellate review of an eviction order. This Court adopted the reasoning in *Boddie*, *Kras*, and *Ortwein*;

"The United States Supreme Court, construing the Fourteenth Amendment, has held that it does not require a waiver of court fees for indigents, if the interest involved in the indigent's claim is not a fundamental one and there is another procedure available, not requiring the payment of fees, through which redress can be sought."

Saylors, at 739 (emphasis added).

Noting the similarity to *Ortwein* in that the asserted interest fell in the classification of social and economic welfare and the existence of a pre-termination hearing without fee, the Court held that requiring an

appeal fee from indigent parties to access appellate review was not a violation of due process. At 735-744.

These cases share the common thread of indigent petitioners seeking "access" to the courts. Whether addressing a fundamental interest (marriage) or an economic one (bankruptcy) the indigent petitioners sought access to the courts as a means to resolve a legal dispute. Where access to the courts is at issue, courts have protected indigent petitioners from payment of fees only in cases involving a fundamental right.

This present petition is fundamentally different. Didlake neither claims indigency nor seeks access to the courts to resolve a dispute; he was forced to respond to a State initiated action to take his property.

Division Two, in *Downey v. Pierce County*, 165 Wn. App. 152, 267 P.3d 445 (2011); review denied 174 Wn.2d 1016 (2012), has observed that;

"Requiring the responding party to pay a fee to access any review of a government initiated action could prevent many people from obtaining the review they are legally entitled to before deprivation of a property interest. See *Ortwein v. Schwab*, 410 U.S. 656, 659–60, 93 S.Ct. 1172, 35 L.Ed.2d 572 (1973) (although requiring welfare recipients to pay filing fees to obtain further review of a state welfare decision reducing their benefits did not violate due process, the welfare recipients in question had already received predetermination evidentiary hearings that were not conditioned on the payment of any fee; noting that these preliminary hearings, "not conditioned on payment of any fee," were required under due process) ...."

Downey, at 166.

Didlake falls into this category of case. Therefore, *Boddie*, *Kras*, *Ortwein*, and *Saylors* fail to resolve this issue.

This Court should accept review to determine whether Respondent may compel drivers to pay a fee to receive due process where the State initiates action to take their property.

2. This petition demonstrates there is a conflict between decisions of Division One and Two of the Court of Appeals that must be resolved by this Court.

In recent years Divisions One and Two of the Court of Appeals have addressed the issue presented herein; whether a responding party must pay a fee to receive a due process hearing after the state has initiated action to take their property. These cases, in conjunction with the present case demonstrate a clear conflict within the Court of Appeals on this issue.

## A. Downey v. Pierce County.

In *Downey v. Pierce County*, 165 Wn. App. 152, 267 P.3d 445 (Div. 2 2011), review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1016 (2012), Division Two reviewed a law requiring pet owners to pay a fee to receive an evidentiary hearing after the county declared the pet "dangerous" under the "Dangerous Animal Declaration" (DAD) code; finding the fee violated

due process.<sup>20</sup> *Downey*, at 163. Once the declaration had been issued the pet owner had to respond in one of three ways: (1) Request a hearing and pay a \$250 "review fee" before the county auditor; (2) relinquish the animal; or (3) Pay \$500 for a dangerous animal permit. At 157.

Evaluating Downey's claim under *Mathews* the Court agreed that a pet owner's interest in possession of a pet was "arguably more than mere economic interest because pets are not fungible." At 165. But the Court stopped well short of calling the property interest fundamental. Pets, as a matter of law, are "personal property." At 165. The Court recognized economic factors that relate to pet ownership under the DAD; such as paying higher registration fees and insurance, and potentially facing criminal liability. *Id.* "Although these private interests are not as significant as the liberty interest ... they are not negligible." *Id.* 

Division Two found the risk of erroneous deprivation of property was high. "[I]f a pet owner does not or cannot pay the administrative fee

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> "We agree that due process requires access to an initial evidentiary hearing without charge." Note: the county code created a two level review system. The first level of review before the auditor cost the pet owner \$250. The second level, an "appeal," before a county hearing examiner cost \$500. Due to deficiencies in the first hearing process Division Two refused to consider the second hearing an appeal, but rather was also an evidentiary hearing. The Court found that the fee requirement for both hearings violated due process and was unconstitutional.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Citing Sherman v. Kissinger, 146 Wn. App. 855, 861, 195 P.3d 539 (2008); Mansour v. King County, 131 Wn. App. 255, 267, 128 P.3d 1241 (2006).

... at that point, the pet owner has had no opportunity to be heard." At 165-166 (emphasis added). This ran afoul of the requirement that before the government can deprive an individual of property, it is *required* to afford her "some form of hearing." *Id.* (emphasis in original).<sup>22</sup>

Of paramount concern to the Court was the direct impact a fee-forhearing requirement has on access to due process and the ability to protect property from State action:

"Requiring the responding party to pay a fee to access *any* review of a government initiated action could prevent many people from obtaining the review they are legally entitled to before deprivation of a property interest."

Downey, at 166 (emphasis in original); citing Ortwein, supra.

#### B. Morrison v. State, Dept. of Labor & Industries.

Several months later Division One issued its decision in *Morrison* v. State, Dept. of Labor & Industries, 168 Wn. App. 269, 277 P.3d 675 (Div. 1 2012), review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1012 (2012). There, the Court

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> It is important to note that Division Two did not distinguish between property owners who are indigent and those who are not. Nor did the Court address whether Downey was indigent; as she made no claim that she was. Because the Court was addressing the issue of access to the sole means of receiving a due process hearing concerning a property right, the distinction was meaningless.

reviewed a law requiring Morrison to pay a \$200 "appeal fee"23 to contest several electrical law citations issued against him and his employer.<sup>24</sup> Morrison claimed the appeal fee violated due process. *Morrison*, at 272.

Division One first evaluated Morrison's property interest finding it was solely economic; i.e. the potential loss of money, and therefore not a "fundamental interest." At 273. Relying on the "Boddie line of cases," the Court found the fee did not violate due process.

> "... monetary prerequisites to court access (e.g., filing fees) are permissible unless the right attempted to be vindicated is fundamental and the courts provide the only means through which vindication of such right may be obtained."

Morrison, Id. (emphasis added).

Division One attempted to distinguish *Morrison* from *Downey* by focusing on what it considered to be distinctly different property interests; calling pet ownership in *Downey* a "much more expansive" property interest. At 275. Yet, Downey never held that pet ownership invoked a fundamental interest; it was "arguably more than a mere economic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> The decision referred to the fee as an appeal fee. However, the facts of the case establish the fee was really for an evidentiary hearing to challenge the issuance of the violation citations. At 270.

24 The penalties associated with the citations totaled \$4,000.00 in fines.

interest." Thus, Division One failed to provide an adequate explanation for its departure from *Downey*.

Curiously, and perhaps exposing a misunderstanding of the case,
Division One further argued that *Downey* held there was no constitutional
right to "appeal" civil cases that did not involve fundamental interests.

"The Downey opinion expressly acknowledged that "there is no constitutional due process right to <u>appeal</u> civil cases involving "only property or financial interests." *Id.* at 167, 267 P.3d 445 (quoting *Grove*, 127 Wash.2d at 240, 897 P.2d 1252).

Morrison, at 275 (emphasis added)

This citation to *Downey* appears without context and creates confusion regarding how to define "appeal" in *Morrison. Downey* clearly referred to an "appeal" as review of a prior proceeding. *Downey*, at 167; citing *In re Grove*, at 239-240. *Downey* cited *In re Grove* merely to help distinguish the first and second hearings under DAD. *Downey*, at 167. Division Two refused to consider the second hearing an "appeal" – or review – of the first. At 167. In *Morrison*, however, the "appeal" was an initial hearing. Without this understanding *Morrison* could be read to imply that Morrison had no right at all to an initial hearing. Neither *Morrison* nor *Downey* should support such a conclusion.

#### C. Didlake v. Wash. State, Dept. of Licensing.

The present petition (Didlake) represents Division One's second attempt to distinguish its analysis from Division Two. In *Didlake*, Division One characterized its interpretation of the first *Mathews*' factor.

"In cases involving due process challenges to filing fees, both the United States and Washington Supreme Courts have held that if a fundamental interest is not involved, requiring a fee for access to court or an administrative hearing, even from indigent persons, does not violate due process."

Didlake, pg. 9 (emphasis added)

In subsequent paragraphs the Court reviewed *Boddie*, supra; *Kras*, supra; *Ortwein*, supra; *MLB v. SLJ*, 519 U.S. 102, 117 S.Ct. 555 (1996); *Bowman v. Waldt*, 9 Wn. App. 562, 513 P.2d 559 (1973); *Saylors*, supra; *Downey*, supra; and *Morrison*, supra. With the exception of *Downey* and *Morrison*, none of these cases addressed the issue of requiring payment of a fee to respond to state initiated action against to take property.

Division One attempted to further isolate Division Two's *Downey* analysis, this time alleging that the Court's ruling was premised on the DAD laws "inadequate procedures."

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