RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 04, 2015, 3:48 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED B

NO. 91606-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES DIDLAKE, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

vs.

WASHINGTON STATE, DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

LEAH HARRIS, WSBA # 40815 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent OID #91020 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 464-7676 Fax: (206) 389-2800 E-mail: LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov

I.	INTRODUCTION	
II.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES2

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Contrary to the drivers' assertions, this case does not involve a significant constitutional question, nor does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with another appellate decision. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3). Where, as here, the right involved is not fundamental and there is an indigency waiver, filing fees satisfy due process. Moreover, because all of the drivers had hearings, and the fee is waived for those who cannot pay it, the drivers Appellants' Opening Brief and Petition for Review (arguing only procedural due process).

cannot show the fee is unconstitutional facially or as applied to them. This Court should deny review.

A. This Case Does Not Involve a Significant Constitutional Question Requiring Review Because Courts at All Levels Have Consistently Rejected the Drivers' Procedural Due Process Argument

Prior case law amply addresses whether a filing fee to obtain an administrative hearing violates procedural due process. Under U.S. Supreme Court and Washington precedent, filing fees have repeatedly withstood procedural due process challenges. Only when a fundamental right is involved do filing fees violate due process, and even then, only if there is no indigency waiver available. The driving privilege is a substantial, but not fundamental, right, *City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 671, 91 P.3d 875 (2004), and the Department waives the fee for indigent drivers. Courts have consistently concluded waiving fees for the indigent satisfies due process.

The drivers unsuccessfully attempt to distinguish their case from this mountain of precedent. Pet. for Review at 6 (arguing the drivers do not raise an "access" issue). But this case, like all other procedural due process challenges where the government seeks to deprive a person of property, is about whether the drivers were afforded notice and an opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976). Determining what process is due requires considering the nature of the right, the risk of erroneous deprivation, and the government interest. *Id.*

In the seminal case on filing fees, welfare recipients sought divorces without having to pay court fees. *Boddie v. Connecticut*, 401 U.S. 371, 372-73, 91 S. Ct. 780, 28 L. Ed. 2d 113 (1971). The U.S. Supreme Court did not hold the fee was improper in every instance; it simply required an indigency waiver for those who could not afford the fee. The Court reasoned an access fee "may offend due process [when] it operates to foreclose a particular party's opportunity to be heard." *Id.* at 380. The Court held, "given the basic position of the marriage relationship in this society's hierarchy of values and the concomitant state monopolization of the means for legally dissolving this relationship," a state may not deny indigent divorce seekers the ability to adjust "a fundamental human relationship" simply by reason of their indigency. *Id.* at 373-74, 383.

The U.S. Supreme Court later clarified *Boddie* and limited its holding to situations where fundamental rights are involved. In *United States v. Kras*, the Court upheld a filing fee under due process as applied to an indigent bankruptcy petitioner who, "because of his poverty," was "wholly unable to pay or promise to pay the bankruptcy fees, even in small

installments." 409 U.S. 434, 438, 93 S. Ct. 631, 34 L. Ed. 2d 626 (1973). The Court explained that *Boddie* "obviously stopped short of an unlimited rule that an indigent at all times and in all cases has the right to relief without the payment of fees." *Kras*, 409 U.S. at 450. *Boddie* involved a "fundamental" interest in one's own marital status, whereas a person's "interest in the elimination of his debt burden, and in obtaining his desired new start in life, although important and so recognized by the [bankruptcy act], does not rise to the same constitutional level." *Id.* at 444-45. The *Kras* Court recognized a heightened procedural due process protection for fundamental rights, requiring a cost-free opportunity to be heard for indigent litigants. *Id.* But even where a fundamental right is involved, the *Boddie* and *Kras* Courts did not hold filing fees were entirely invalid; fees are only invalid as applied to indigent litigants asserting fundamental rights.

Following *Boddie* and *Kras*, the U.S. Supreme Court upheld a statutory appellate court filing fee as applied to indigent welfare recipients who sought to appeal adverse agency decisions reducing their benefits. *Ortwein v. Schwab*, 410 U.S. 656, 658, 93 S. Ct. 1172, 35 L. Ed. 2d 572 (1973). The Court held the indigent welfare recipients' interests in increased benefits, like the interest involved in *Kras*, "has far less constitutional significance than the interest of the *Boddie* appellants." *Ortwein*, 410 U.S. at 659 (citations omitted). The Court explicitly recognized that there was "no

fundamental interest" involved in the relief they sought. *Id.* Accordingly, the filing fee, even as applied to indigent welfare recipients, did not violate due process. *Id.* at 659-60.

Consistent with this analysis distinguishing between fundamental and non-fundamental rights, the U.S. Supreme Court later held that an indigent parent cannot be required to prepay for record preparation to appeal the termination of his or her fundamental parental rights. *M.L.B. v. S.L.J.*, 519 U.S. 102, 117 S. Ct. 555, 136 L. Ed. 2d 473 (1996). But even where the right at stake involves "family life" and "the upbringing of children," and where termination of those rights "is among the most severe forms of state action," *id.* at 128, the record preparation fee is still permitted for nonindigent parents. *Id.* at 107, 116.

The Washington Supreme Court has followed *Boddie*, *Kras*, and *Ortwein* to uphold filing fees under due process. Where no fundamental right is implicated, filing fees are permissible for all. And even where fundamental rights are involved, this Court has not invalidated filing fees in their entirety, but instead has only required indigency waivers.⁷

In Housing Authority of King County v. Saylors, this Court upheld an appellate filing fee for an indigent litigant defending an unlawful

⁷ For access to court, the Washington Supreme Court has gone beyond what is constitutionally required and waived all mandatory fees and surcharges for indigent litigants by court rule adopted in 2010. GR 34(a); *Jafar v. Webb*, 177 Wn.2d 520, 303 P.3d 1042 (2013). This does not change the constitutional analysis.

detainer action initiated by the county housing authority. 87 Wn.2d 732, 557 P.2d 321 (1976). This Court held the fee did not violate due process because the interest involved—one's housing—was not fundamental, but rather "lies in the area of economics and social welfare." *Id.* at 739-44.

The Court of Appeals has also held that due process did not require a county to waive the fees necessary for an indigent judgment creditor to secure the execution of a sheriff's levy because the case was "one 'in the area of economics and social welfare." *Bowman v. Waldt*, 9 Wn. App. 562, 570, 513 P.2d 559 (1973) (quoting *Ortwein*, 410 U.S. at 660).

More recently, the Court of Appeals upheld a statute requiring electrical contractor licensees to pay a \$200 fee to obtain an initial hearing to contest the Department of Labor and Industries' citations and monetary penalties for electrical code violations. *Morrison v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 168 Wn. App. 269, 273-75, 277 P.3d 675, *review denied*, 175 Wn.2d 1012 (2012). The Court upheld the fee even though the statute did not provide for an indigency waiver. *See* RCW 19.28.130. Nonetheless, consistent with *Saylors* and "the *Boddie* line of cases," the *Morrison* court held "monetary prerequisites to court access (e.g., filing fees) are permissible unless the right attempted to be vindicated is fundamental and the courts provide the only means through which vindication of such right may be obtained." *Morrison*, 168 Wn. App. at 273. In other words,

because one's interest in an occupational license is not fundamental, the filing fee did not violate due process. This was true even when the action was state-initiated, the fee was for the first opportunity to be heard, and the statute did not provide for an indigency waiver.

Even where jurisdictions have chosen to be more protective than Boddie and its progeny, holding filing fees for initial hearings involving non-fundamental rights can violate due process, those jurisdictions have done so only as applied to indigent litigants. See Wiren v. Eide, 541 F.2d 757, 763 (9th Cir. 1976) (requirement that people whose property has been seized pay a pre-hearing bond was unconstitutional only as applied to indigent claimants); Whiteside v. Smith, 67 P.3d 1240, 1242 (Colo. 2003) (\$675 fee to obtain a mandatory independent medical examination before an injured worker can challenge the termination of his temporary disability benefits violated due process only as to indigent workers); Varilek v. City of Houston, 104 P.3d 849, 854 (Alaska 2004) (even though Alaska has explicitly "widened the right of access to the judicial system beyond the Boddie line of cases," a \$200 administrative filing fee to challenge a notice of violation of zoning and land use codes denied due process only as to indigent claimants); Boll v. Dep't of Revenue, 528 N.W.2d 300 (Neb. 1995) (requiring prepayment of unpaid tax as a prerequisite to a hearing on appeal of tax assessments was unconstitutional only as applied to

indigent taxpayers); Neff v. Comm'r of Dep't of Indus. Accidents, 653 N.E.2d 556 (Mass. 1995) (statute requiring worker's compensation claimants to pay a \$350 hearing fee to challenge a denial of benefits contained an implicit indigency waiver, which "obviate[d] the need . . . to address Neff's constitutional arguments"); Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n of U.S., Inc. v. O'Neill, 561 A.2d 917 (Conn. 1989) (requirement that manufacturer pay \$250 filing fee to defend against consumer's complaint did not violate due process because statute provided for an economic hardship waiver).

Thus, courts nationwide have consistently held that even where a fundamental right is implicated, procedural due process does not require a court to strike down a filing fee entirely, as the drivers request. Even in the jurisdictions that have gone beyond the fundamental rights analysis in the *Boddie* line of cases, the courts have invalidated the fees only as to indigent litigants. Here, where no fundamental right is involved *and* the Department waives the fee for indigent drivers, the Court of Appeals properly followed U.S. Supreme Court and Washington precedent to find no due process violation. *Didlake*, slip op. at 9-15. Further review is unwarranted.

The drivers valiantly try to make almost the entire body of filing fee case law inapplicable (except for the one case they say supports their

position) by ignoring the question the *Mathews* due process test is designed to determine: whether the government has impermissibly burdened a person's opportunity to be heard.⁸ See Pet. for Review at 6-9 (arguing based on the cases' facts, and not their constitutional holdings, that the cases are about "access" to the courts after a cost-free initial administrative hearing); Mathews, 424 U.S. at 332-34. By suggesting that government initiation of the action or the availability of an initial cost-free hearing affects the constitutional analysis, as opposed to the nature of the right at stake, the drivers essentially ignore the fundamental vs. nonfundamental distinction in the Boddie line of cases and discard the Mathews test. Like the Boddie filing fee cases, which examine whether the right implicated is fundamental or not, the first element of the Mathews test considers the nature of the underlying right. City of Redmond v. Bagby, 155 Wn.2d 59, 63, 117 P.3d 1126 (2005); Mathews, 424 U.S. at 335; *Didlake*, slip op. at 9.⁹ Simply asserting that the initial opportunity to be heard must be cost-free assumes the ultimate issue. As these cases' holdings make clear, when the right implicated is a non-fundamental

⁸ The drivers also argue that a party initially responding to *any* state-initiated action can never be required to pay a fee. Pet. for Review at 6. There is no support for such a categorical rule. "Due process is a flexible concept in which varying situations can demand differing levels of procedural protection." *Gourley* v. *Gourley*, 158 Wn.2d 460, 467, 145 P.3d 1185 (2006) (citing *Mathews*, 424 U.S. at 334).

⁹ Although *Boddie*, *Kras*, and *Ortwein* did not explicitly engage in a balancing of the *Mathews* factors because those cases predated *Mathews*, they did balance private and state interests consistent with *Mathews* to determine what process was due. *Boddie*, 401 U.S. at 376, 381-82; *Kras*, 409 U.S. at 445-48; *Ortwein*, 410 U.S. 659-60.

property right, a filing fee is a permissible condition on one's right to be heard.

Additionally *Morrison*, a Washington case that expressly follows the *Boddie* line of cases, is directly analogous because it involved precisely the same posture as this case: whether the state could compel an electrical contractor licensee to pay a fee to challenge state-initiated disciplinary action. *Morrison*, 168 Wn. App. at 273-75; *see* Pet. for Review at 10. The case law the Department and the Court of Appeals appropriately relied on concerns the constitutionality of requiring litigants to pay a fee to receive the process that is due. That is exactly what this case involves. The Court should reject the drivers' strained effort to distinguish the relevant filing fee case law in order to create an issue of constitutional importance. Review should be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision in This Case Does Not Conflict with Other Washington Decisions

As discussed above, the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with this Court's decision in *Saylors* and the Court of Appeals' decisions in *Morrison* and *Bowman*. But the drivers suggest that *Downey v. Pierce County*, 165 Wn. App. 152, 267 P.3d 445 (2011), *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1016 (2012), conflicts with *Morrison*,¹⁰ and now with *Didlake*. Pet.

¹⁰ In seeking this Court's direct review of the superior court's decision in 2013, the drivers argued there was a conflict between *Morrison* and *Downey* warranting direct

for Review at 10-19. They are mistaken.

In *Downey*, the Court of Appeals struck down a mandatory \$250 filing fee required for a dog owner to obtain a hearing to contest a county's dangerous animal designation. *Id.* at 166-67. However, *Downey* is distinguishable because the challenged ordinance "had no fee waiver provision, and the court did not address whether such a waiver for indigent dog owners would cure any due process violation." *Didlake*, slip op. at 14. Thus the *Downey* court's concern that the fee would "prevent many people from obtaining the review they are legally entitled to" is not present in this case because all indigent drivers can request a fee waiver, and the record contains no evidence that fee waivers have ever been improperly denied. *Downey*, 165 Wn. App. at 166. For this same reason, the drivers cannot meet the second *Mathews* factor: because a pre-deprivation hearing is afforded to all, they cannot establish a risk of erroneous deprivation without an opportunity to be heard. *Bagby*, 155 Wn.2d at 6; *Mathews*, 424 U.S. at 335.

Additionally, *Downey* addressed the unique, sentimental value of a dog as a family pet. The court stated that a dog owner's interest in her pet is "arguably more than a mere economic interest because pets are not

review under RAP 4.2(a)(3). Statement of Grounds for Direct Review at 8-10. This Court denied direct review.

fungible." *Downey*, 165 Wn. App. at 165;¹¹ see also Rhoades v. City of *Battle Ground*, 115 Wn. App. 752, 766, 63 P.3d 142 (2002) (dog owners' interest in keeping their pets "is greater than a mere economic interest, for pets are not fungible"); *Mansour v. King Cnty.*, 131 Wn. App. 255, 265, 128 P.3d 1241 (2006) ("many people consider pets part of the family"); *Rabon v. City of Seattle*, 107 Wn. App. 734, 744, 34 P.3d 821 (2001) (recognizing a potential argument "that a person's relationship with a dog deserves more protection than a person's relationship with, say, a car").¹² Although the *Downey* court stated that "due process requires access to an initial evidentiary hearing without charge," *Downey*, 165 Wn. App. at 163, nothing in the opinion suggests the court intended *Downey* to be applied beyond its unique context. Rather, *Downey* discussed the importance of family pets and described them as non-fungible in that context. *Downey*, 165 Wn. App. at 165.

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